NEW BRITAIN
PALM OIL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Meeting the
Challenges of
Today.
Planning the
Future.
Creating Value
for
Shareholders.

Grow with us

NEW BRITAIN
PALM OIL LIMITED

Grow with us

In September 2007, NBPOL proudly
celebrated 40 years of operations in
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2007 REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

New Britain Palm Oil Limited (NBPOL) is Papua
New Guinea’s largest oil palm plantation
and milling operation.
NBPOL has continued to consolidate its
position in the region by expanding its core
activities of palm oil production.
NBPOL continues to pursue its objectives of
enhancing shareholder value.
It also places high value on its social
obligations to the community by seeking
to achieve the highest standards of
environmental management and by
working in sensitive co-operation with all
sectors.

HARVESTING FRUIT BUNCHES
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SHAREHOLDING STATISTICS

TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS
The twenty largest shareholders in New Britain Palm Oil Limited currently hold approximately 87.71% of the paid
up capital of the Company. There are 145 million ordinary shares in issue.		
As at 31 March 2008, the twenty largest shareholders and their holdings are understood to be:

Rank

Investor

Current
Balance

% Issued
Capital

1

Kulim Malaysia Berhad

73,482,619

50.68%

2

West New Britain Provincial Government

12,000,000

8.28%

3

National Superannuation Fund

7,055,252

4.87%

4

Custos Limited

5,880,000

4.06%

5

BlackRock Investment Management

3,548,242

2.45%

6

JP Morgan Asset Management

2,869,400

1.98%

7

Fidelity Investments

2,869,400

1.98%

8

Wellington Management

2,437,521

1.68%

9

Montpellier Asset Management

1,880,000

1.30%

10

AXA Framlington Investment Managers

1,700,000

1.17%

11

Standard Life Investments

1,678,061

1.16%

12

Artemis Investment Management

1,620,000

1.12%

13

Pacific Rim Plantation Services Pte Ltd

1,569,000

1.08%

1

1

14

Aberforth Partners

1,559,000

1.08%

15

Threadneedle Investments

1,537,747

1.06%

16

Goldman Sachs (MM)

1,450,885

1.00%

17

Altima Partners

1,138,301

0.79%

18

Fortelus Capital Management

1,000,000

0.69%

19

Schroder Investment Management

960,000

0.66%

20

DWS Investments

946,829

0.65%

127,182,257

87.71%

Notes
1. Beneficial owner of which is Alan Chaytor

DISTRIBUTION OF SHARES
The distribution of shareholders at that date was:
Range of Holdings
11,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and Over
Total 			

			
Number of Holders 		
		
		
869 		
				
130 		
				
49 		
				
97 			
				
88 			
			   1,233 			

MARKETABLE PARCELS
All parcels held by shareholders are marketable parcels.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Kamit. It is expected to meet not less than
four times a year. The Company’s auditors,
the chairman, the chief executive officer
and the finance director may attend and
speak at meetings of the audit committee.

NBPOL subscribes to high standards of
corporate governance and taking into
account its size, applies the principles
contained in the Combined Code of
Corporate Governance 2006 applicable
under the Listing Rules of the Financial
Services Authority. In addition the Board
of Directors is satisfied that the Company
complies with the corporate governance
guidelines issued by the PNG Institute of
Company Directors

The committee has responsibility for among
other things, the planning and review of
the group’s annual and interim financial
statements and the supervision of its auditors
in the review of such financial statements.
The audit committee focuses particularly
on the group’s compliance with legal
requirements, accounting standards and
the listing rules and ensuring that effective
systems for internal financial control and for
reporting non-financial operating data are
maintained. The ultimate responsibility for
reviewing the annual report and accounts
and interim statements remains with the
Board.

Board of Directors
Upon admission in December 2007 the Board
comprised 8 members, 5 of whom were
non-executive directors. For the purposes
of the Combined Code Antonio Monteiro
de Castro, Michael St Clair-George and
Winifred Kamit are independent directors.
Former Chairman Ahamad Mohamad and
Tan Sri Arsad Ayub had served on the board
for more than 9 years prior to admission to
LSE.

Remuneration Committee
The remuneration committee is chaired by
Winifred Kamit and its other members are
Antonio Monteiro de Castro and Michael
St Clair-George. This Committee has
responsibility for determining, within agreed
terms of reference, the Group’s policy
on the remuneration of senior executives
and specific remuneration packages for
executive directors, including pension rights
and compensation payments. It is also
responsible for making recommendations for
grants of options under any share scheme.

The Board meets quarterly during the year
and information is supplied to directors on
a timely basis to enable them to carry out
their duties effectively. Additionally circular
resolutions are made when decisions
are required prior to a board meeting.
The Board is responsible for leading and
controlling the Company and in particular
for the formulation, review and approval of
the Company’s business strategy, budget,
major items of expenditure, acquisitions and
disposals.

Nominations Committee
The nominations committee is chaired by
Ahamad Mohamad and its other members
are Antonio Monteiro de Castro and Tan
Sri Datuk Arshad Ayub, Winifred Kamit and
Michael St Clair-George. This committee
has responsibility for considering the size,
structure and composition of the Board, the
retirement and appointment of directors
and makes appropriate recommendations
to the Board in relation to these matters.

Full monthly reports are issued to directors
within 2 weeks of the end of each month
for their review and comment. These reports
comprise mainly the monthly management
accounts production related data as well
as information concerning the operations of
the Company.

Environment Committee
In view of the importance the Company
places on protection of the environment and
the establishment of the best procedures
for the protection of the environment,
the Board has created this committee to
ensure compliance with environmental
legislation affecting the Company. The
current members are Winifred Kamit and
Nick Thompson.

Information concerning the remuneration
of directors is provided in the “directors
remuneration” section of the annual report.
The Board delegates specific responsibilities
to the committees set out below.
Audit Committee
The audit committee is chaired by Michael
St. Clair George and its other members are
Antonio Monteiro de Castro and Winifred
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

are the expansion of the tank farm at the
bulk terminal, the upgrading and expansion
of the kernel processing facility and the
Kumbango mill extension to 60 tonnes per
hour capacity. These projects are in various
stages of completion and are expected to
be completed during 2008.
Financially the Company is in a very
strong position especially as a result of the
capital raising. At year end the Company
had cash reserves of USD 135.6 million
and borrowings of only USD 5.3 million.
As a result of the strong performance of
the Company and its financial position a
gross interim dividend of 13.8 US cents was
declared in December 2007 and paid in
January 2008. A gross final dividend of
14.0 US cents was declared in March 2008
and is payable in July 2008.

2007 was an excellent year for New Britain
Palm Oil Limited and it gives me great
pleasure to highlight to our shareholders and
stakeholders the advances the company
has made.
In December the results of a number of
months of hard work by the senior executives
of the company were finally made visible
with the flotation of the company’s shares
on the London Stock Exchange. Despite the
difficult trading conditions on world markets
in the lead up to the float, it was pleasing
to see how well the market received the
flotation. Subsequent buoyant trading of
the Company’s shares is also pleasing.
The Company was also honoured by the
London market generally at the PLC awards
with “New Company of the Year” Award.

The Group met its expectations for a
record year with revenue increasing
approximately 68% to USD 225 million and
profit after tax (excluding IAS 41) increasing
to approximately USD 59.2 million. These
figures reflect both control over costs that
the group could control and of course
increasingly higher prices for the oils the
group produces.
These high prices have continued into
2008 at record levels. The Group expects
that prices will continue to be underpinned
by strong demand from the food sector
and the low worldwide stock levels of most
agricultural commodities.

In preparation for and as a result of the
flotation, a number of changes have
been made, these include the addition of
non executive directors to the Board and
I welcome Antonio Monteiro de Castro
as Chairman elect and Michael St Clair
George both of whom bring a range of skills
and experience to the Board.

During the year we succeeded in finally
gaining the approval of the Indonesian
quarantine authorities to enable us to
recommence exports of oil palm seed
from Dami Research Station to Indonesia.
This will have a strong impact on results in
2008 as demand for our seed is at very
high levels and prices of seeds are good.

The addition of new directors to the Board will
enable the Company to meet the standards
of corporate governance expected of it by
the UK investors.
The Company continued its strong growth in
the quest to achieve the expected target of
doubling its current capacity in the coming
years and had another record year in terms
of fruit production. During the year the group
processed 1.2 million tonnes of fruit and
produced over 300,000 tonnes of CPO and
PKO.

The smallholder’s sector continues to be
buoyant especially with the high prices for
fruit as a result of the high oil prices. During
the year a total of USD 36.7 million was paid
to smallholders.
Work continues within New Britain Palm Oil
Limited to make continuous improvements
in line with the ISO 14001 certification.
Environmental considerations are an

Among the capital works commenced in
2007 to increase our processing capacity
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integral part of the Company’s operations
and we are conscious of our responsibilities
to all stakeholders.
During 2007, New Britain Palm Oil Limited
took advantage of the tax credit facilities
available to it and improved and upgraded
public roads. A total of USD 2.7 million was
spent which was an increase of USD 1.2
million on the previous year. This expenditure
ensures that the road system is maintained
to a suitable standard which is vital for the
timely pick up and delivery of fresh crop to
our mills.
The New Britain Palm Oil Foundation has also
had a fruitful year, providing infrastructure
within West New Britain for health, education
and policing. In 2007, USD 182,000 was
spent with the Kimbe Police station and the
Kimbe General Hospital the main recipients.
We also funded additional classrooms for
four schools.
The Foundation’s main asset is a significant
parcel of New Britain Palm Oil Limited shares,
some of which will be realized to enable a
more significant contribution to the Province’s
infrastructure in years to come.
Lastly I would like to thank, on behalf of all
shareholders and the Board, the employees
of the Group for their hard work and
continued commitment to the company,
without which the results of the Group would
not have been as good as they are.

Ahamad Mohamad
Chairman
18th March, 2008

LOCAL BOY IN TRADITIONAL DRESS AT THE 40th ANNIVERSARY CELEBRATIONS
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A FIVE YEAR SUMMARY OF GROWTH

(all amounts in US ‘000’s)
2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

Financial Performance year 31 Dec
Revenue
Profit from ordinary activities
Profit after tax
Cash flow from operating activities
Average price cpo (US$ per tonne (cif)
Average price pko (US$ per tonne (cif)

224,954
119,545
86,973
63,379
780
895

133,764
67,516
47,820
23,301
469
605

114,997
26,563
19,079
36,386
442
656

124,654
30,091
21,212
35,095
471
654

97,183
31,210
21,904
33,730
459
467

At Year End
Share Capital
Shareholders Equity
Working Capital
Total Assets

124,879
242,380
134,620
529,058

9,440
176,756
24,719
285,524

9,440
137,558
22,153
203,734

9,440
132,487
36,121
201,687

9,440
80,461
18,962
137,095

60.00
20.00
3.00
2.55

39.10
3.00
13.03
1.62

15.90
13.00
1.22
1.24

17.70
4.00
4.43
1.18

18.30
10.00
1.83
74.90

838,002
378,117
1,216,119

717,429
337,100
1,054,529

628,572
323,211
951,783

614,960
288,878
903,839

552,284
264,967
817,250

274,489
66,747
4

235,099
59,386
4

213,189
54,769
12

203,612
52,834
8

185,756
45,826
6

Own Mature Oil Palm (hectares Dec.)
Palm Products Yield (MT of CPO+PK per ha)

33,532
7.1

28,016
7.1

26,321
6.7

25,501
7.0

23,564
6.5

Secondary Products
PK Processed into:
Palm Kernel Oil (PKO)
Palm Kernel Expeller (PKE)

25,571
35,219

23,789
33,946

21,090
28,322

21,527
27,917

18,646
23,959

CPO Refined
Refined Palm Oil Produced (RPO)
Fatty Acid Distillate (PFAD) Produced

77,584
73,412
3,397

74,492
70,858
3,238

82,427
78,086
3,531

91,863
87,873
3,949

75,120
71,107
2,896

RPO Fractionated into:
Palm Olein (RPL)
Palm Superolein (RPSL)
Palm Stearin (RPS)

27,104
14,897
11,540

29,030
13,027
11,178

40,309
11,349
15,228

46,582
6,367
17,715

32,507
1,472
11,933

General Statistics
Earnings per share (toea)*
Dividends per share (toea)*
Dividend cover (times)
Net asset backing per share (kina)*
*adjusted for share split 1999
Production Volumes (tonnes)
FFB from Own Plantations
FFB from Outgrowers
Total FFB processed
Primary Products
Crude Palm Oil Produced (CPO)
Palm Kernels Produced (PK)
Oil Palm Seeds (million sold)
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BUSINESS REVIEW

spending and reap the rewards of high
commodity prices, notably in the mineral
and energy sectors. As a result the 2007
general election saw the re-election of the
National Alliance Government led by Sir
Michael Somare.

NBPOL has consolidated its position as
the largest palm oil producer in the South
Pacific and continues to focus on its primary
palm oil production business in Papua New
Guinea and the Solomon Islands. NBPOL’s
combined holdings now total 43,305
hectares under cultivation and in addition,
purchases oil palm fruit from some seven
thousand small-holder growers cultivating oil
palms on a further 25,325 hectares. NBPOL
is also one of the world’s largest producers
of oil palm seeds and has joint venture seed
production facilities in Colombia, Indonesia
and Malaysia.

In the Solomon Islands, 2007 has been a
period of good economic growth but this
is to be expected after a sustained period
of stagnation and there is still a long way to
go to exceed its 1998 (pre tension) levels of
growth. It is hoped that the new government’s
development strategy will encourage a
healthy, growing mixed economy. The rate
of inflation has been consistently falling since
last year, from 9.1% in September 2006 to
5.8% in September 2007 and the Solomon
Dollar remains stable against the US Dollar.

NBPOL’s main plantation and processing
operations are located on the north coastal
areas of West New Britain Province in Papua
New Guinea. The Company also has an
80% shareholding in Guadalcanal Plains
Palm Oil Ltd (GPPOL), which it acquired in
2005. GPPOL is a smaller palm oil operation,
located on the Guadalcanal Plains in
the Solomon Islands. Between Papua
New Guinea and the Solomon Islands the
Company’s plantations span some fifty two
thousand hectares of land situated on the
coastal plains that are typically flat to gently
undulating in terrain, ideally suited to oil
palm cultivation.

The reliance on logging, which makes up
60% of foreign earnings and employs over
16% of the formal workforce, is a concern.
The Government needs to develop
sustained economic growth in sectors other
than the logging. GPPOL’s progress is one of
the economic highlights in 2007, and the
government remains fully supportive of the
project.
The vegetable oil market has seen one of the
most promising periods in the development,
demand and innovative uses of agricultural
resources leading prices to historically high
levels.

In December 2007 the Company
successfully listed its shares on the London
Stock Exchange through a placement
25 million new shares and a sell down by
existing shareholders of 10.6 million shares
at two pound fifty pence per share. The new
share issue raised GBP57 million that will be
utilised in the Company’s expansion of its
production, milling and export facilities. The
placement was three times over-subscribed
and the Company was delighted with the
market response at a time when many
other companies found it difficult to raise
money under volatile market conditions. The
Company’s share price has continued to
appreciate since listing.
In 2007 the Papua New Guinea economy
continued to strengthen with exchange rates
against most major currencies strengthening
as foreign currency reserves continued to
grow. Inflation was kept under control at 3%,
as the Government continued to control

A HARVESTER WITH A NEWLY CUT FRESH FRUIT BUNCH AT KUMBANGO PLANTATION
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Palm oil products account for approximately
36% of the production, amongst the “8
major” oils.
Historically, vegetable oils
were traditionally identified with “food
applications”, but recently the use of these
oils as raw materials in bio-diesel and energy
feed-stocks came to the fore. In 2007 world
crude palm oil prices averaged US$780 per
metric ton (CIF Rotterdam) compared to US
$478 in 2006. Palm oil has benefited from its
own demand driven strength and also due
to higher prices on competing oils, such as
soya oil, sun oil and rape seed oil. The prices
of vegetable oils have been underpinned
by:

profit after tax (excluding IAS 41) increasing
to approximately USD 59.2 million (2006: USD
21.4million). The gain for the year on the
revaluation of biological assets under IAS 41
was USD 39.7 million, resulting in profit after
tax including IAS 41 of USD 87 million (2006:
USD 47.8 million).
Excluding IAS 41, earnings per share for
2007 were 40.6 US cents (2006: US 18.1
cents) whilst earnings per share including IAS
41 were 60 US cents (2006: 39.1 US cents).
The 2007 interim dividend of 13.8 US cents
was declared and paid in January 2008.
2007 saw a strong increase in the price of
CPO with market prices averaging USD 780
per metric tonne (CIF Rotterdam) in 2007
compared to USD 469 in 2006.

1.
Strong demand growth for all
vegetable oils as a food ingredient as a
result of high GDP growth in countries such
as India and China;
2.
High petroleum prices and also
expansion in the global bio fuels sector;
and
3.
Supply pressures resulting from both
weather problems and competition for
acreage from wheat and corn has shifted
land out of oilseed cultivation in favour of
these alternative crops.
Looking forward to 2008, the “supply &
demand” backdrop for the vegetable oils
and oil seeds sector appear quite tight, with
weather related supply risk being a crucial
factor. The Company expects prices to
remain buoyant in 2008, although downside
correction and adjustments are possible
during the course of the year. We view such
corrections as a healthy and integral part of
any commodity cycle. This will ensure that
the key business parameters of - production,
demand and prices find their “relative
equilibrium value”, which will then set the
foundation for the next growth phase.

CRUDE PALM OIL BEING PUMPED INTO THE Anawan AT KIMBE BULK TERMINAL

The Company has continued to focus its
marketing resources within the European
Union, developing long term business
relationships with European food processors,
as a key supply partner, offering dedicated
logistics to supply traceable palm oil
products.

As in previous years, the Company “forward
sold” a proportion of its production during
the year and as a result the average CPO
selling price achieved by NBPOL during the
year was USD 686/tonne. As at the year
end, the Group had made “forward sales”
of roughly one third of its 2008 production
(113,000 tonnes of CPO) at an average
price of USD 775/tonne. The crude palm oil
price is currently approximately USD 1,235/
tonne.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
The Group has had a record year with
revenue increasing approximately 68% to
USD 225 million (2006: USD 133.8 million) and

Seed sales were below management
expectations for the year due to the impact
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of the late issuing of import permits by the
Indonesian Quarantine Authorities and a
coconut pest outbreak in the Philippines
which led to nationwide quarantine
restriction in the movement of all palm
species. The export of seeds resumed in
September 2007 and the Group expects a
strong performance from the seed business
in 2008.

to report that the Company continued to
make progress by raising both crop and oil
yields in 2007.
2007 was a record year for the Company
in both production and profitability. The
estate yields in Papua New Guinea were
very impressive, averaging 26 tonnes of fruit
per hectare for all areas under harvesting.
Discounting the estates that were in their first
year of harvest and were brought into harvest
progressively throughout the year, the 2007
average estate yield was 27.9 tonnes of fruit
per hectare; a world class result.
In the Solomon Islands the highest yielding
estate exceeded 23 tonnes of fruit per
hectare whilst complete harvesting was
not achieved until the second half of the
year, as the work on full rehabilitation was
completed in late 2007.

QUALITY CONTROL AT KUMBANGO OIL REFINERY

Total group costs were within budget
notwithstanding the continued appreciation
of the PNG currency (Kina) against the US
dollar during the year, higher CPO prices
materially increasing the prices paid for
smallholder fruit and the higher price of
mineral oil based fuels impacting freight
and distribution costs.

In 2007 oil palm fruit production from
independent growers or smallholders reached
its highest ever level of approximately three
hundred and eighty four thousand tonnes of
fruit. In comparison to our total throughput
of fruit, the smallholder crop maintained a
similar ratio to previous years of 31.6% in
2007 compared to 32% in 2006. In West New
Britain the Company has 7,188 registered
smallholders that have 25,324 hectares of
oil palm under cultivation of which some
21,076 is currently being harvested.

The Group is constructing a new centralised
renewable power station, which is due to
be commissioned in May 2008, which will
burn waste biomass instead of diesel and
should result in savings on fuel for power
generation.

The smallholder oil palm area increased
by 855 hectares in 2007 and a further 706
hectares was replanted. The smallholder fruit
is purchased on an industry wide formula
that is based on the world market price
for crude palm oil, crude palm kernel oil
and palm kernel meal. As a result of rising
palm oil prices in 2007 the price paid for
smallholder fruit has risen dramatically. The
Company paid the smallholder growers in
excess of 108 million kina in 2007.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
The Company continues to pursue its two
pronged strategy of organic growth based
on low levels of financial gearing and a
continued emphasis on raising oil yields
through our “30:30” initiative. The “30:30”
initiative has the objective of raising fruit
yields to 30 tonnes per hectare and palm
product extraction rates to 30%. It is pleasing

MONITORING POWER DISTRIBUTION TO THE KUMBANGO MILL
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In 2007 the Company processed 1.2 million
tonnes of fruit, extracting 300,061 tonnes
of crude palm oils (274,490 tonnes of
crude palm oil and 25,571 tonnes of crude
palm kernel oil). This was the first year that
we produced in excess of 300,000 tonnes
of crude oil, of which 78,000 tonnes was
processed into a range of downstream
products at our own refining and fractionation
facility in New Britain.

TONNES
TONNES

350,000

The Company acquired the Solomon
Islands assets in 2005 through our 80%
shareholding in Guadalcanal Plains Palm Oil
Limited (GPPOL). GPPOL commenced the
production and export of crude palm oil the
following year and in 2007 we continued to
make progress, although somewhat slower
than first anticipated, with the completion of
the rehabilitation of the estates and the first
phase of the re-planting programme.

Crude Oil Output 1980 - 2007
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Our crude oil production was 13.7% higher
than the preceding year, which was in
turn some 10.5 % higher than 2005. The
increase in oil output was due primarily to
higher fruit yields and new acreage coming
into harvest.

The focus in the Solomon Islands has
now switched to growing our operations
and in 2007 we started to plant palms
on grasslands adjacent to our current
estates, this programme will continue over
the foreseeable future. 2007 also saw the
commissioning of the palm kernel crushing
facility that has been constructed within the
palm oil mill at Tetere. The crushing of palm
kernels in the Solomon Islands reduces the
freight and handling costs associated with
shipping and crushing this product in our
New Britain facilities. In December 2007
GPPOL made its first export of palm kernel
oil with the plant producing excellent oil
extraction rates.
Our aggressive strategy of replanting
continues with palms older than 22 years of
age from the date of field planting being
felled and the areas replanted with our latest
high yielding palm varieties, developed inhouse at Dami Research station.

The Company’s four oil mills in Papua
New Guinea currently have a capacity to
process approximately 130,000 tonnes
of fruit per month. In 2007 our cropping
peaked in the month of May, when 94%
of our processing capacity was utilised.
The extraction rates of crude palm oil and
palm kernel improved slightly compared to
2006 remaining above 28%.
The refinery continued to under-perform in
the first half of the year, but after a change of
management in the second half of the year
we restored throughput whilst the quality of
refined products was again stable and well
within expected parameters. The refinery
has now been expanded and fully tested
at a capacity of four hundred tonnes of
crude palm oil per day. With minimal further
upgrading of pumps, pipelines, valves and
fittings we could extend the refinery to five
hundred tonnes per day which we will do
in 2008.

NEW BOILER UNDER CONSTRUCTION AT KUMBANGO POWER PLANT

As a result the overall age profile of the
Company’s estates is still very young with a
weighted average age since field planting
of only 9.4 years (8.8 years in PNG and 12.4
years in the Solomon Islands). As a group
some 44% of our area is less than 7 years old
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since field planting and as a consequence
is still on an upward yield trend as the palms
are yet to reach their full yield potential.

2010. It will be located at Malilimi Plantation
and work on this will commence in 2009.

New estate developments
The next phase of development along the
North coast of New Britain is dependent on
the construction of a main access road,
known as the Silavuti road. The Silavuti road is
part of the National Government’s long term
plan to construct a highway that spans from
Gloucester in West New Britain to Rabaul
in East New Britain. A draft environmental
impact report for the construction of the
Silavuti road has been completed and
submitted to the West New Britain Provincial
Government. It is anticipated that this will be
endorsed and submitted to DEC.

STORAGE TANKS AT KUMBANGO REFINERY

The extension work at Kumbango kernel
mill has commenced and is expected to
be in operation by 2008 ultimately bringing
processing capacity to 15 tonnes of palm
kernel per hour.

The Company has funding available for
the construction of this road through an
approved tax credit scheme and is in
negotiation with the Provincial and National
Governments to foster an early completion
of this important infrastructure.

Improvements are being incorporated into
the design of these new mills so that they
have a smaller environmental footprint.
Innovations include incorporating a final
effluent polishing plant to reduce BOD to
below 25ppm and introducing reed beds
to filter out suspended particles before
discharge.

The Company plans to start on the next
phase of planting in New Britain in 2008 with
work well advanced to obtain agricultural
business leases over approximately 8,000
hectares of land on areas to the west of
our existing estates Sapuri and Daliavu.
There are also some smaller land areas,
approximately 1,500 hectares, lying within
our existing operations and to the East that
we also hope to start development in the
near future. In Guadalcanal in the Solomon
Islands we have some 4,100 hectares of land
identified adjacent to our existing operations
for the first phase of our expansion of GPPOL.
We hope to plant some 1,300 hectares in
2008

Better designed boilers that have lower
emissions and allow greater use of palm
by-products as fuel stocks are being
incorporated in the new mills and will also
become standard at our existing mills
through a programme of replacements.
Integrated Beef and Oil Palm Operation
The integrated cattle operation on Numundo
plantation continued to perform well during
2007 making a small contribution to the
overall Company profit. Operating on only
677 hectares intercropped with oil palms the
cattle herd remained virtually unchanged
at 4,200 head, as the operation continues
a consolidation phase with a focus on
improving the overall performance of the
existing herd.

New Oil Milling Capacity
The Company’s fifth oil mill will have a
capacity of 60 tonnes of fruit per hour and
will be located to the north of Numundo
Plantation.
Civil works are expected to commence in
2008 with commissioning of the mill due in
2009. We are also expanding Kumbango oil
mill’s capacity from 40 tonnes per hour to
60 tonnes per hour and this is expected for
completion in 2008.

Herd fertility continues to be an area of
focus for improvement, with a 76% calving
rate achieved from 1,760 breeders mated.
We changed the fertilizer regime for grazing
areas in 2007 and a reassessment of animal
mineral nutrition will hopefully provide
improved fertility in 2008.

The sixth mill, also a 60 tonne per hour
capacity unit is planned for completion in
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Demand for ‘Numundo Beef’ continues to
be very strong. A total of 1,153 head were
processed through our abattoir resulting in a
total of 299 tonnes of beef being sold into
Kimbe and Port Moresby. Gross operating
profit for the cattle enterprise increased by
28% from 2006.

in 2001 where we expanded the genetic
base of our breeding populations with the
introduction of new material from diverse
origins. The introduction and testing of new
germplasm will provide a broader range of
palms suited for a wider range of soil types
and environments. For the first time cloned
palms have been selected at Dami for seed
production.
A total of 98 dura clone palms were
selected for production of monoclonal seed
where dura clone flowers are fertilized with
commercial pollen from a pisifera palm
Seed Production
In 2007 the seed production unit in Papua
New Guinea sold 3.8 million seeds from 1,957
mother palms. The joint ventures in Indonesia
(Dami Mas) and Colombia (Murgas & Lowe)
continue to do very well selling 19.1 million
and 2.4 million seeds respectively.

FEEDING TIME AT NUMUNDO FEEDLOT

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT OVERVIEW

Seed sales from Papua New Guinea in
2007 were impacted by the late issuing of
import permits by the Indonesian Quarantine
Authorities and a coconut pest outbreak
in the Philippines which led to nationwide
quarantine restriction in the movement of all
palm species.

Plant Breeding
Profitability starts with high yielding genetic
material. NBPOL has always recognized
that to underpin the Company’s strategy
for profitability the key is to focus the plant
breeding and seed production operations
(based at Dami) on supplying the business
with planting material that is both high yielding
and suited to its environment.

We foresee strong seed sales for Dami in 2008.
The Seed production Unit at Dami continues
to be certified to the ISO 9001 standard (SGS,
Australia) with no major corrective actions
issued.

The plant breeding strategy aims to deliver oil
yields in excess of 9 tonnes per hectare on a
consistent basis under New Britain’s growing
conditions. The plant breeding program is the
foundation stone of the Company’s “30:30
vision”.
The research station at Dami coordinates the
breeding efforts maintaining 6 main breeding
programs comprising of 46 separate trials.
Fifteen new trials covering 142 hectares were
planted in 2007 and a further 3 new trials will
be added to this portfolio in 2008. These trials
investigate in detail the yield and vegetative
growth characteristic of individual palms.

STACKING TAGGED SEED IN DAMI’S NEW COLD ROOM

A record number of bunches (29,330)
were collected for individual physical and
chemical analysis during the year. Separated
into long and short term breeding programs,
Dami continues to produce seedlings of high
yield potential, increasing productivity from
generation to generation.
The breeding programs are now using
palms from Ghana following an initiative

Biotechnology
The plant breeding strategy aims to deliver oil
yields in excess of 9 tonnes per hectares on
a consistent basis under New Britain’s growing
conditions.
Such high yield progenies
have been identified within the plant
breeding programs and can be produced
in limited numbers but work is continuing
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applications.

to increase production capacity of these
“super progenies” either through standard
multiplication methods or through clone
tissue technology. Two major initiatives are
underway: double haploid production and
suspension culture.
Double Haploids
It is already possible in many species to
produce pure breeding plants (double
haploids) direct from pollen grains
(androgenesis) or from the female egg
cell (gynogenesis). Using this technique a
pure breeding palm can be grown in one
generation rather than the six or seven
generations currently required. Such palms
will allow the breeder to quickly access
genes that are not normally available in
conventional breeding techniques and
reduce the time required for the development
of new varieties. It is these genes that will be
important in the development of new high
yielding palms. While the recalcitrant nature
of oil palm makes haploid plant production
difficult
and
challenging,
significant
advances have been made.

SOIL SAMPLING

The agronomy section has been working
on a number of long term fertilizer studies
aimed at increasing the efficiency of specific
nutrient application as well as evaluating
herbicides which are less toxic and more
environmentally friendly. Additional trails are
aimed at maximizing the use of organic
materials through recycling of mill by–products
and increasing nitrogen inputs through the
introduction of more efficient leguminous
ground cover. The agronomy team works
closely with the Oil Palm Research Association
of PNG and has been in collaboration with
Syngenta to test less toxic alternatives to
some current herbicides.

Suspension Culture
Twenty-nine elite tenera palms have been
cloned using conventional tissue culture
techniques (gel). But the cost of production
is high and the process relatively slow. When
plant tissues are suspended in liquid culture
rather than grown on a solid medium, the
application of growth factors is more uniform
and predictable. The requirement for manual
labour is reduced, and plant development
is quicker, leading to improved efficiencies
and lower costs., Techniques that are
standard for forest trees are being adapted
to the specific requirements of oil palm and
have prompted a new research project to
implement suspension culture into the overall
system.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil
(“RSPO”).
The RSPO was created with the principle
objective of promoting a more sustainable
palm oil industry. Its aim is to address concerns
about the loss of rainforest, biodiversity, land
rights disputes, labour rights, and poverty
reduction. The RSPO has defined sustainable
palm oil through a set of principles and
criteria, and launched these and a formal
certification system to verify sustainability on
20 November 2007.

Agronomy
The ongoing soil resource and estate
mapping program is providing a solid
basis and the necessary indicators for the
Company’s sustainability programs. As
part of the program the estates are sub
divided into smaller units which facilitate the
management of the data collected. NBPOL
has 422 such “management units”. These
units form the basis by which NBPOL is able
to accurately match palm requirements in
a given environment with targeted fertilizer

NBPOL is an executive member of the RSPO
and represents all non-Malaysian and nonIndonesian palm oil producers and has
played a leading role in implementing
the necessary indicators to demonstrate
compliance with this “sustainability” standard
with the PNG environment. NBPOL is fully
committed to sustainability and is working
hard to demonstrate this through the universal
adoption of the RSPO standard throughout its
operations. The work is challenging NBPOL
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as being ISO 14001 compliant in April
2004. A successful re-certification audit was
undertaken in 2007.

in many areas but the Company remains
committed to embracing change and
sustainable development.
NBPOL was assessed by British Standards
International (Benchmark) as part of the
pre-audit of the Company’s operations in
July 2007 and the Company is confident
of achieving RSPO certification once the
certification scheme is launched by the RSPO,
which is expected to be in March 2008. A task
force comprising senior managers of NBPOL
have been working since then to address the
gaps identified in this report.
An assessment of Biodiversity and High
Conservation Value Forest around and near to
our operations has also been conducted by
Enviro-Logic Consulting (Malaysia). A register
of rare and threatened species has been
identified for the area and plans to mitigate
negative and promote positive effects are
underway.

INTERNAL ENVIRONMENTAL AUDIT

Maintaining the system requires strong internal
audits. A total of 249 audits were conducted
in 2007 with some 274 corrective action
points generated. NBPOL believes that this
continued scrutiny at all levels has led to a
continuous improvement culture within both
the operational and support elements and
hopes to use this approach in future work.

The Company places a high value on
its social obligations to both internal and
external stakeholders. A program to progress
Social change has begun commencing
with a Social Impact Assessment conducted
by external and local consultants. This has
highlighted areas where NBPOL can improve
its performance and plans have been drawn
up to effect change.

Group and Senior Managers both in the
plantations and mills are performing regular
inspections on Safety Health and Environment
and Quality, with the Engineering department
appointing a Senior Manager tasked with
Total Quality Management. The Company
Sustainability Managers still acts in an overall
coordinating role using such information
proactively to plan audits on specific areas
of concern and identify issues to address for
continuous improvement programs.

Carbon Credit Projects
During production of crude palm oil at the
palm oil mill, wastewater is generated with a
high organic load. The biological degradation
takes place under anaerobic conditions, in
lagoons. These open lagoon emit methane.
Methane is a potent greenhouse gas, 21
times more harmful than carbon dioxide.
The Company has plans for the capture
of methane at source through technology
that is classified as a Clean Development
Mechanism (CDM) project that will attract
carbon credits, reduce the consumption of
diesel and also through the use of methane
as fuel become a net producer of electricity
in the province.

A system of integrated internal audit covering
RSPO, OHS and ISO14001 system has been
implemented for NBPOL commencing
December 2007.
The transition of all permits and licences to
the requirement of the new Environment Act
2000 was completed with the assistance of a
DEC officer on site.
The implementing of OHS management
systems is progressing as planned. The
NBPOL OHS Manual and Site Specific Safety
Plans have been completed and handed to
Site Managers. Site Safety Officers for each
operation have conducted site inspection
and site meetings. Issues raised in the
meetings are now being put on an overall
improvement plan and raised in monthly
safety committee meetings.

Environmental Management
NBPOL implemented an environmental
management system for all operations
concerned with the production and export
of palm oil, palm oil seeds and beef. That
system was audited and verified (by SGS)
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
NBPOL is working on the creation of a
safer environment for employees.
The
Company is bringing all operations inline
with the approach outlined in the OSHA
18000 (OHS) guidelines. In order to ensure
that OHS becomes firmly embedded
within the thinking of line managers a twoyear program began in June 2006, and is
expected to be completed in June 2008.
To enhance this program a professional
OHS Advisor was recruited, and the Safety,
Health and Environment Committee was re
convened to oversee the integration with
other ISO standards within the organization.

DOUBLE CLASSROOM AT TAMBA PRIMARY SCHOOL

NBPOL has funded or built a number of
school classrooms, aid posts and police
accommodation around the province as
well as providing bores for clean drinking
water in many villages. This funding is now
normally undertaken by the Foundation
using funds donated to it by the Company
and with funds earned on investments. In
2007 K500,000 was donated by NBPOL to
the Foundation for the following projects
which have been fully implemented and
handed over to the beneficiaries.

An Australian Federal Health and Safety
inspector has been engaged as consultant
to the program. Adopting a practical
approach,
awareness,
training
and
education has progressed alongside of
implementation. Progress is on schedule with
a review of all medical statistics completed
along with interviews of all key staff. As a
result a comprehensive Hazard Identification
and Risk Assessment have been carried out
across the entire operations and provides
the backbone of the program. Policy and
top management documents have been
prepared and the program has moved
onto control and auditing.

Tamba Primary School: Double classroom
Patanga Primary School: Double classroom
Malalia Primary School: Teacher’s house
Kimbe
General
Hospital:
Surgeon’s
residence: Kimbe Police: Renovations and
upgrade of Provincial Police Commander’s
Residence.

SUPPORTING SOCIAL AND INFRASTRUCTURE
DEVELOPMENT

Generally the NBPOL Foundation’s financial
position has become much stronger mainly
resulting from its shareholding in NBPOL
(450,000 shares) and has benefited greatly
from the dividends as well as the growth in
the value of its shares.

Apart from the obligations arising from
the Company’s responsibilities towards
protecting and enhancing the environment,
the Company is well aware of its other social
obligations. Many families are dependent
on the group both directly and indirectly. The
province as a whole is heavily dependent
upon the palm oil base, but there is an
absence of effective government services
and in many areas the Group has filled this
void.

In addition to these obligations, the Company
utilizes the Infrastructure Tax Credit Scheme
whereby approved capital expenditure on
projects such as road upgrading can be
offset against income tax. As a result, the
province has some of the best maintained
roads in PNG

In May 1997, the Company established
the New Britain Palm Oil Foundation (the
“Foundation”), with the objective of making
funds available for the betterment of health,
education and otherwise of the people living
in the immediate area of the Company’s
operations, the people of West New Britain
generally, and otherwise the people of PNG.
The foundation has subsequently been
approved as a charitable body with the result
that donations to it are allowable deductions
under the Income Tax Act of PNG.

SARAKOLOK ROAD RECONSTRUCTION UNDER TAX CREDIT

18

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

milling commenced at the end of 2006
and oil palm rehabilitation continued during
the year.
The group successfully listed on the London
Stock Exchange in December 2007

Your directors take pleasure in presenting
their Annual Report, including the financial
statements and consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2007.

RESULTS
Net profit attributable to the shareholders
was USD86,973,000 (2006: USD47,820,000).
Equity of the group at the year-end totalled
USD370,474,000 which was an increase of
USD176,357,000 over the 2006 year-end
total of USD194,117,000.

DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITES
The directors are obliged under Company
law to prepare financial statements for
each financial year and to present them
annually to the Company’s shareholders in
the Annual General Meeting.

DIVIDENDS
In August 2007 the final dividend for 2006
was paid of 6.9 cents per share.

The financial statements, of which the form
and content is prescribed by the Papua
New Guinea Companies Act 1997 and
applicable accounting standards, must give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company at the end of the financial
year, and of the profit for that period.

In December 2007 an interim dividend for
2007 was declared of 13.8 cents per share
which was paid in January 2008.
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
Director’s remuneration, including the value
of benefits, received during the year, is as
follows:

The directors are also responsible for the
adaptation of suitable accounting policies
and their consistent use in the financial
statements, supported where necessary by
reasonable and prudent judgements.

GROUP AND
HOLDING
COMPANY
2007
2006
USD’000 USD’000
74
68
Hj Ahamad Mohamad
526
292
N.M. Thompson
37
34
Tan Sri’ Dr Arshad Ayub
37
34
Dato Mohd Ismail Che Rus
37
34
Mrs Winifred Kamit
Sheik Sharufuddin Sheik Mohd 37
34
21
D.L.M. Dann
-

The directors ensure the maintenance and
integrity of the Company’s website.
The Directors confirm that the above
requirements have been complied with in
the financial statements.
In addition, the directors are responsible for
maintaining adequate accounting records
and sufficient internal controls to safeguard
the assets of the Company and to prevent
and detect fraud or any other irregularities,
as described more fully in the Corporate
Governance statement.
ACTIVITIES
During the year, the group has continued to
grow and process oil palm fresh fruit bunches
harvested from its own plantations as well as
from surrounding smallholders in West New
Britain, Papua New Guinea.
The group also continued its investment in
the Solomon Islands where harvesting and

NICK THOMPSON, CEO, UNVEILS THE 40TH ANNIVERSARY PLAQUE AT MOSA
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

REMUNERATION OF EMPLOYEES
The number of employees (not including directors) whose remuneration, including benefits was within the
specified bands was as follows: (2006 figures in parenthesis).

Band In USD

Number

Band in USD

Number

Number

$35,000 - 39,999

15

(4)

$40,000 - 49,999

10

(10) $50,000 - 59,999

9

(8)

$60,000 - 69,999

5

(3)

$70,000 - 79,999

6

(4) $80,000 - 89,999

2

(2)

$90,000 - 99,999

1

(4)

$110,000 - 119,999

2

(5) $120,000 - 129,999

2

(1)

$130,000 - 139,999

3

(0)

$140,000 - 149,999

3

(2) $160,000 - 169,999

2

(2)

$170,000 - 179,999

1

(1)

$180,000 - 189,999

3

(0) $190,000 - 199,999

2

(0)

$200,000 - 209,999

3

(1)

$210,000 - 219,999

1

(1) $220,000 - 229,999

2

(0)

$230,000 - 239,999

1

(0)

$250,000 - 259,999

1

(1) $270,000 - 279,999

0

(1)

$300,000 - 309,999

1

(0)

$320,000 - 329,999

1

(0)

Total 76 (50)

				

INTERESTS REGISTER
Details of directors’ interests in the equity of the Company as at the date of this report are as follows:
N.M Thompson 350,021 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
D.L.M Dann 121,938 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
A.J. Chaytor 7,586,500 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
AUDITORS
Details of amounts paid to the auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers for the audit and other services are shown
in note 3 to the financial statements.
DONATIONS
The total amount of donations made by the Company and the group is stated in note 3 to the financial
statements.
For and on behalf of the Board

Managing Director

Chairman

Signed in Singapore
18 March 2008
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT

Those Standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

Report on the financial statements and
consolidated financial statements

An audit involves performing procedures
to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We have audited the accompanying
financial statements of New Britain Palm
Oil Limited (the ‘Company’) and the
consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’)
which comprise the balance sheet as
at 31 December 2007 and the income
statement, statement of changes in equity
and cash flow statement for the year then
ended and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial
statements
The directors are responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements and consolidated
financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards,
other generally accepted accounting
practice in Papua New Guinea and with
the requirements of the Papua New Guinea
Companies Act 1997.

An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management and the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.

Opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying
financial statements of the Company and
the consolidated financial statements
of the Group give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Company
and the Group as at 31 December 2007,
and of their financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and other generally
accepted accounting practice in Papua
New Guinea and with the requirements of
the Papua New Guinea Companies Act
1997.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements and
consolidated financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards
on Auditing.
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Report on other legal and regulatory
requirements
The Papua New Guinea Companies Act
1997 requires that in carrying out our audit
we consider and report to you on the
following matters. We confirm that:
i)
in our opinion proper accounting
records have been kept by the Company
and the Group, so far as appears from our
examination of those records;
ii)
we have obtained all the
information and explanations we have
required; and
iii) in conducting our audit we followed
applicable independence requirements
of CPA Papua New Guinea.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

By: Brett Entwistle
Registered under the Accountants Act 1996
Port Moresby
20 March 2008

NBPOL STAFF MARCH IN THE 40th ANNIVERSARY CELEBRATIONS PARADE
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INCOME STATEMENT

Consolidated
Notes

Holding Company

2007

2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

Restated
Revenue

4

Restated

224,954

133,764

210,439

129,357

Cost of sales

(95,323)

(62,803)

(87,458)

(61,096)

Gross profit

129,631

70,961

122,981

68,261

Net gain arising from changes in fair
value of biological assets

8

39,702

37,700

42,434

29,236

Other income

4

2,406

757

2,895

1,009

Distribution costs

(35,000)

(26,983)

(32,473)

(26,410)

Administrative expenses

(17,194)

(14,919)

(15,778)

(13,654)

119,545

67,516

120,059

58,442

62

18

59

18

Finance costs

(1,214)

(873)

(289)

(270)

Net finance costs

(1,152)

(855)

(230)

(252)

3,191

334

-

-

121,584

66,995

119,829

58,190

(34,611)

(19,175)

(35,431)

(16,723)

86,973

47,820

84,398

41,467

86,940

46,821

84,398

41,467

33

999

-

-

86,973

47,820

84,398

41,467

Operating profit

5

Interest income

Share of profit from joint venture

22

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
Income tax expense

6(a)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interest

Earnings per share

23

USD

USD

- Basic

0.600

0.391

- Diluted

0.600

0.391

Earnings before net gain arising from changes in fair value of biological assets are shown in note 23

The accompanying notes to the financial information form an integral part of the financial information
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BALANCE SHEET

Notes

Consolidated
2006
USD’000
2007
Restated
USD’000

Holding Company
2007
USD’000

2006
USD’000
Restated

NON CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment

7

182,177

150,355

154,894

127,809

Biological assets

8

134,143

84,854

127,230

75,745

Investments

9

3,515

1,987

12,123

11,080

319,835

237,196

294,247

214,634

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

10

135,600

806

132,566

424

Trade and other receivables

11

55,309

27,936

50,955

26,705

-

2,696

-

2,752

138

153

138

153

Income tax receivable
Biological assets

8

Inventories

12

18,176

16,737

16,402

15,711

Amounts owed by group companies

13

-

-

18,096

11,306

209,223

48,328

218,157

57,051

529,058

285,524

512,404

271,685

TOTAL ASSETS
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings

14

14,363

11,422

14,363

11,422

Derivative financial instruments

15

2,220

771

2,220

771

Deferred income tax liabilities

6(b)

67,398

55,605

65,753

53,253

83,981

67,798

82,336

65,446

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings

14

5,326

8,042

5,326

7,857

Trade and other payables

16

11,273

8,609

10,245

7,340

Derivative financial instruments

15

24,786

4,551

24,786

4,551

11,739

-

11,819

-

-

184

560

Current income tax liabilities
Amounts owed to group companies

13

-

Dividends payable

16

21,479

2,407

21,479

2,407

74,603

23,609

73,839

22,715

TOTAL LIABILITIES

158,584

91,407

156,175

88,161

NET ASSETS

370,474

194,117

356,229

183,524

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Issued capital

17

124,879

9,440

125,012

9,615

Other reserves

18

10,579

7,127

9,519

7,102

231,801

174,368

221,698

166,807

367,259

190,935

356,229

183,524

3,215

3,182

-

-

370,474

194,117

356,229

183,524

Retained earnings

Minority interest in equity
TOTAL EQUITY

For, and on behalf of, the board

Managing Director
Chairman
Signed in Singapore, 18th March 2008

The accompanying notes to the financial information form an integral part of the financial information
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Issued
Capital
USD'000

Other
Reserves
USD'000

Retained
Earnings
USD'000

Total
USD'000

Minority
Interest
USD'000

Total
Equity
USD'000

9,440
-

6,021
(3,681)
4,787

131,537
-

146,998
(3,681)
4,787

2,183
-

149,181
(3,681)
4,787

-

1,106

-

1,106

-

1,106

-

-

46,821

46,821

999

47,820

-

1,106
-

46,821
(3,990)

47,927
(3,990)

999
-

48,926
(3,990)

9,440

7,127

174,368

190,935

3,182

194,117

-

(15,184)
18,636

-

(15,184)
18,636

-

(15,184)
18,636

-

3,452

-

3,452

-

3,452

-

-

86,940

86,940

33

86,973

-

3,452

86,940

90,392

33

90,425

115,397
42
-

-

(29,507)

115,397
42
(29,507)

-

115,397
42
(29,507)

124,879

10,579

231,801

367,259

3,215

370,474

9,615
-

6,162
(3,681)
4,621

129,330
-

145,107
(3,681)
4,621

-

145,107
(3,681)
4,621

-

940
-

41,467

940
41,467

-

940
41,467

19

9,615

940
7,102

41,467
(3,990)
166,807

42,407
(3,990)
183,524

-

42,407
(3,990)
183,524

18
18

-

(15,184)
17,601

-

(15,184)
17,601

-

(15,184)
17,601

-

2,417
-

84,398

2,417
84,398

-

2,417
84,398

-

2,417

84,398

86,815

-

86,815

115,397
-

-

(29,507)

115,397
(29,507)

-

115,397
(29,507)

125,012

9,519

221,698

356,229

-

356,229

Consolidated
Restated balance at 1 January
2006 *
Cashflow hedges net of tax
Currency translation differences
Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity
Net profit for the year
Total recognised income and
expense for 2006
Dividends declared

18
18

19

Balance at 31 December 2006
Cashflow hedges net of tax
Currency translation differences
Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity
Net profit for the year
Total recognised income and
expense for 2007
Net proceeds from issuance of
ordinary shares
Share issued for land rights
Dividends declared

18
18

17
17
19

Balance at 31 December 2007
Company
Restated balance at 1 January
2006 *
Cashflow hedges net of tax
Currency translation differences
Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity
Net profit for the year
Total recognised income and
expense for 2006
Dividends declared
Balance at 31 December 2006
Cashflow hedges net of tax
Currency translation differences
Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity
Net profit for the year
Total recognised income and
expense for 2007
Net proceeds from issuance of
ordinary shares
Dividends declared
Balance at 31 December 2007

18
18

17
19

* refer note 1(w)
The accompanying notes to the financial information form an integral part of the financial information
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Notes

Consolidated

Holding Company

2007

2006

2007

2006

USD'000

USD'000

USD'000

USD'000

204,138

124,870

192,932

121,116

(136,787)

(97,777)

(134,979)

(92,143)

67,351

27,093

57,953

28,973

Income tax paid

(2,820)

(2,937)

(2,749)

(2,932)

Interest paid

(1,214)

(873)

(289)

(270)

62

18

59

18

63,379

23,301

54,974

25,789

-

-

-

(10,960)

(24,750)

(21,975)

(22,171)

(17,171)

Expenditure on plantation development

(9,375)

(13,062)

(7,453)

(9,146)

Expenditure on biological assets

(1,010)

(737)

(1,010)

(737)

(35,135)

(35,774)

(30,634)

(38,014)

Proceeds from borrowings

3,973

10,718

3,973

10,718

Repayment of borrowings

(993)

(4,241)

(993)

(4,241)

Net proceeds from share issue

116,094

-

116,094

-

Dividends paid

(10,524)

(1,555)

(10,560)

(1,561)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities

108,550

4,922

108,514

4,916

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

136,794

(7,551)

132,854

(7,310)

749

250

1,852

196

(6,262)

1,039

(6,459)

655

131,281

(6,262)

128,247

(6,459)

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers
Cash payments to suppliers and employees

Interest received
Net cash generated from operating activities

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Loans provided to related companies
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash
and cash equivalents
Add : Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 10
THE PERIOD

The accompanying notes to the financial information form an integral part of the financial information
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated

Profit after income tax

Holding Company

2007

2006

2007

2006

USD'000

USD'000

USD'000

USD'000

86,973

47,820

84,398

41,467

Add/(less) non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation

14,650

11,533

12,928

10,727

(39,702)

(37,700)

(42,434)

(29,236)

(749)

(250)

(1,852)

(196)

3,809

(99)

2,503

375

Share of profit from joint venture

(3,191)

(334)

-

-

Deferred income tax

13,474

16,056

14,294

13,823

(171)

20

(171)

20

-

-

(7,166)

(3,646)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables

(27,373)

(10,710)

(24,250)

(10,119)

Increase/(decrease) in current income tax liabilities

14,435

(3,862)

14,510

(3,941)

2,663

675

2,905

5,732

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

(1,439)

152

(691)

783

Net cash generated from operating activities

63,379

23,301

54,974

25,789

Biological (gain)/loss
Net exchange differences
Exchange differences on translation of financial statements

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of non current assets
Add/(less) movements in working capital items:
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due from/to related
companies

Increase in trade and other payables

The accompanying notes to the financial information form an integral part of the financial information
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
New Britain Palm Oil Limited was incorporated
on 19 May 1967, as a limited liability
company in Papua New Guinea. New Britain
Palm Oil Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) operate in the oil
palm industry in Papua New Guinea, the
Solomon Islands, Indonesia and Australia.
The address of New Britain Palm Oil Limited’s
registered office is Bebere Plantation, Mosa,
Kimbe, West New Britain Province, Papua
New Guinea. The subsidiaries of the Group
are disclosed in note 9.

IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach
under IAS 39, Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Environments
IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2
IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives
IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and
Impairment
(iii) Interpretations effective in 2007 but not
relevant
IFRIC 11, IFRS 2- Group and Treasury Shares
(effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 March 2007), provides guidance on
whether share-based transactions involving
treasury shares or involving group entities
should be accounted for as equity-settled
or cash-settled share-based transactions
in the stand-alone accounts of the parent
and group companies. The Group will
apply IFRIC 11 from 1 January 2008, but it
is not expected to have any impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

(a) Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
(including International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations).

(b) Consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which
the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than
one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant
to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 3.

The purchase method of accounting is used
to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries
by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued and
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange, plus costs directly attributable to
the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of
any minority interest. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s
share of identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill.

(i) Standards effective in 2007 and adopted
by the Group
IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures,
and the complementary Amendment to
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
– Capital Disclosures, are mandatory for the
Group’s accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2007. IFRS 7 introduces new
disclosures relating to financial instruments.
This standard does not have any impact
on the classification and valuation of the
Group’s financial instruments.
(ii) Interpretations effective in 2007 but not
relevant
The following interpretations are mandatory
for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2007 but are not relevant to the
Group’s operations:

If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the income statement.
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particular economic environment that
are subject to risks and returns that are
different from those of segments operating
in other economic environments. Segment
information is presented in note 24.

1.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES    (Cont)
Inter-company
transactions,
balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated but
considered an impairment indicator of the
asset transferred.

(d) Biological assets
Biological assets comprise oil palm trees
from initial preparation of land and planting
of seedlings through to maturity and the
entire productive life of the trees, as well as
livestock.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

(i) Oil palm trees
Oil palms do not include the land upon
which the trees are planted, or the property,
plant and equipment used in the upkeep of
the planted areas and harvesting of crops.

(ii) Transactions and minority interests
The Group applies a policy of treating
transactions with minority interests as
transactions with parties external to the
Group. Disposals to minority interests results
in gains and losses for the Group that are
recorded in the income statement.

The biological process commences with
the initial preparation of land and planting
of seedlings and ceases with the delivery of
crop in the form of fresh fruit bunches (“FFB”)
to the manufacturing process in which crude
palm oil and palm kernel oil are extracted
from the FFB.

Purchases from minority interests result in
goodwill, being the difference between any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying value of net assets
of the subsidiary.

Oil palms are revalued to fair value at each
reporting date on a discounted cash flow
basis by reference to the FFB expected
to be harvested over the full remaining
productive life of the trees up to 22 years,
applying an estimated produce value for
transfer to the manufacturing process and
allowing for upkeep, harvesting costs and
an appropriate allocation of overheads.

(iii) Joint venture entities
The interest in a joint venture entity in which
the Group holds a significant influence, is
accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method.

The estimated produce value is derived
from a long term forecast of crude palm
oil prices to determine the present value of
expected future cashflows over the next 22
years. Oil palms which are not yet mature
at the accounting date, and hence are not
producing FFB, are valued at cost as an
approximation of fair value.

Under the equity method, the Group’s
share of the profits or losses of the joint
venture entity is recognised in the income
statement and its share of movements
in reserves is recognised in reserves in the
balance sheet. The cumulative movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of
the investment. Details relating to the joint
venture are set out in note 22.

All expenditure on the oil palms up to maturity
is treated as an addition to the oil palms.
Such costs include seedling costs, holing
and planting, transport and field distribution,
lining and pruning.

(c) Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and
operations engaged in providing products
or services that are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of other
business segments.

The variation in the value of the oil palms in
each accounting period, after allowing for
additions to the oil palms in the period, is
charged or credited to the income statement
as appropriate, with no depreciation being
provided on such assets.

A geographical segment is engaged in
providing products or services within a
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Land and capital work in progress are not
depreciated. Depreciation on other assets
is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of residual values,
over their estimated lives as follows:

1.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES    (Cont)
The key assumptions used in the valuation are
as follows:
Long
Term
CPO
Price*
As at

Long
Term
PKO
Price*

Leasehold buildings
Plant & machinery
Motor vehicles
Furniture, fixtures & office
equipment
Plantation development
expenditure

Long Term
Discount
Rate**
%

USD/Tonne USD/Tonne

31 December 2006    $510

$610

19.4%

31 December  2007

$625

18.4%

  $525

* The prices assumed in the valuation are based on a combination
of the World Bank’s long term forecasts for Crude Palm Oil (CPO)
and management’s best estimate at each reporting date.

4 - 33 years
10 - 15 years
3 - 5 years
5 - 15 years
17 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at each balance sheet date.

** The discount rate has been determined using a Capital Asset
Pricing Model to calculate a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the
asset.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

(ii) Livestock
Livestock are valued at cost as an
approximation of fair value. Cost is calculated
as the average value of livestock at the
beginning of the period plus purchases and
natural increases during the period. Natural
increases are valued at the attributable
value accepted by the taxation authorities.

Gains and losses on disposal of property,
plant and equipment are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount
and are taken into account in determining
the result for the year.

(e)
Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment is
stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition
of items. All costs directly relating to
plantation development are capitalised
until such time as the oil palms reach
maturity, at which point all further costs are
expensed and depreciation commences.
Such costs includes roads, drainage,
land preparation and an allocation of
overheads. All costs directly relating to oil
palm trees are accounted in accordance
with note 1(d) (i).

(f)
Inventories
Inventories comprise palm oil products,
nursery and seed stocks, spare parts and
consumables. Inventories are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average
cost method.
Inventory of palm oil produce comprises
processed and refined palm oil products in
tanks awaiting shipment at balance sheet
date and are stated at the lower of net
realisable value or, fair value less estimated
selling costs plus processing costs.Such costs
include direct materials and labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads relating
to the milling and refining processes.

Subsequent costs are included in the
asset’s carrying amount or recognised
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of
the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to
the income statement during the reporting
period in which they are incurred.

In respect of nursery and seed stocks, spare
parts and consumables, cost includes direct
materials and labour plus an appropriate
proportion of fixed overheads.

Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling price less any further costs expected
to be incurred to completion and sale.

30

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management
has the positive intention and ability to
hold to maturity. If the Group were to
sell other than an insignificant amount
of held-to-maturity financial assets, the
whole category would be tainted and
reclassified as available-for-sale. Held-tomaturity financial assets are included in
non-current assets, except for those with
maturities less than 12 months from the
reporting date, which are classified as
current assets.

1.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES    (Cont)

g)
Investments
Classification
The Group classifies its investments in the
following categories: financial assets at
fair value through income statement,
loans and receivables, available for sale
financial assets and held-to-maturity
investments. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the investments
were acquired. Management determines
the classification of its investments at
initial recognition and re-evaluates this
designation at every reporting date.

Recognition and de-recognition
Purchases and sales of investments and
other financial assets are recognized on
trade-date – the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognized at fair
value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through
the income statement. Investments are
derecognized when the rights to receive
cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through
income statement
Financial assets at fair value through
income statement are financial assets held
for trading. A financial asset is classified in
this category if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short term. Assets
in this category are classified as current
assets.
(ii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Group
provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading
the receivable. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater
than 12 months after the balance sheet
date. Loans and receivables are included in trade and other receivables in the
balance sheet.

When securities classified as available-forsale are sold, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are
included in the income statement as gains
and losses from investment securities.
Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Realised and unrealised gains
and losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the financial assets at fair value
through income statement category are
included in the income statement in the
period in which they arise. Changes in the
fair value of monetary and non monetary
securities classified as available for sale
are recognised in equity.

(iii) Available for sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are
non-derivatives that are either designated
in this category or not classified in any of
the other categories. They are included in
non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the investment
within 12 months of the balance sheet
date.

Fair value
The fair values of quoted investments are
based on current bid prices. If the market
for a financial asset is not active (and for
unlisted securities), the Group establishes
fair value by using valuation techniques.

(iv) Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-
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The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. Value in use is calculated by discounting
cash flows using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Based on these calculations
and using the same primary assumptions as
detailed in note 1(d) , no impairment losses
have been recognised.

1.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES    (Cont)
These include the use of recent arm’s length
transactions, reference to other instruments
that are substantially the same, discounted
cash flow analysis, and option pricing models
making maximum use of market inputs and
relying as little as possible on Companyspecific inputs.

(i)
Borrowings and borrowings costs
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost,
any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the income statement over
the period of borrowings using the effective
interest method. Borrowings are classified
as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the
balance sheet date.

Impairment
The Group assesses at each balance sheet
date whether there is objective evidence
that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired.
In the case of equity securities classified as
available for sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below
its cost is considered as an indicator that the
securities are impaired.
If any such evidence exists for available for
sale financial assets, the cumulative loss
– measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in profit or loss
– is removed from equity and recognised in
the income statement. Impairment losses
recognised in the income statement on
equity instruments are not reversed through
the income statement. Impairment testing
on trade receivables is described in note
1(p).

Borrowing costs as expensed in the period
that they are incurred.

(h)
Impairment of long lived assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are
subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows.

Derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised in the balance sheet at fair value
and are subsequently re-measured at their
fair values. On the date a derivative contract
is entered into, the Group designates the
contract as a hedge against specific
future sales. The method of recognising the
resulting gain or loss is dependent on the
nature of the item being hedged.

(j)
Derivatives
The Group uses derivative financial
instruments to hedge some of its exposure
to fluctuations in palm oil prices. In order to
protect against the impact of falling prices,
the Group enters into hedging transactions
which provide a minimum price to cover
non-discretionary operating expenses and
sustaining capital

Derivatives that are designated against
future sales qualify as cash flow hedges and
are deemed highly effective. Changes in the
fair value of these derivatives are recognised
in equity. Amounts deferred in equity are
transferred to the income statement and
classified as revenue in the same periods
during which the hedged palm oil sales
affect the income statement.

An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. In
determining recoverable value, reasonable
and supportable future cash flow projections
of the economic conditions that exist over the
remaining life of each asset are developed.
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enacted or substantially enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

1.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES    (Cont)
When a hedging instrument expires or is
sold, or when a hedge no longer meets
the criteria for hedge accounting under
IAS 39, any cumulative gain or loss existing
in equity at that time remains in equity
and is recognised when the committed or
forecasted sale is ultimately recognised in
the income statement.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for
deductible temporary differences and
unused tax losses only if it is probable that
they can be utilised against future taxable
amounts.
Deferred income tax is provided on
temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries and associates except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it
is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

If the committed or forecast sale is no
longer expected to occur, the cumulative
gain or loss reported in equity is immediately
transferred to the income statement.
At the inception of the transaction, the
Group documents the relationship between
hedging instruments and hedged items,
as well as its risk management objective
and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. This process includes linking all
derivatives designated as hedges to specific
forecast palm oil sales.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax and liabilities and when the
deferred tax balances relate to the same
taxation authority.
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset
when the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends to either settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

The Group also documents its assessment,
both at the hedge inception and on an
ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that
are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values
or cash flows of hedged items.

Current and deferred tax balances
attributable to amounts recognised in equity
are also recognised directly in equity.

Refer to Note 2 (e) for the fair values used
by the Group in respect of its hedges of
crude palm oil (CPO) and refined bleached
deodorised olein (RBDOL).

(l)
Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(‘the functional currency’).

k)
Income tax
The income tax expense for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the national income
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to
unused tax losses.

The consolidated financial statement is
presented in US Dollars, which is New Britain
Palm Oil Limited’s presentation currency
and differs from its functional currency, the
Papua New Guinea Kina (“PNG Kina”).
		
The balance sheets and statements of
changes in equity are translated from PNG
Kina to US Dollars at the closing rate existing
at the date of the balance sheet, which
at 31 December 2007 is PGK1.00 = USD
0.3580 (31 December 2006: PGK 1.00 =
USD 0.3330).

Deferred income tax is recognised in full,
using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax base
of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial
statements.
Deferred income tax is determined using
the tax rates (and laws) that have been
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activities as described below.
(i) Sale of palm oil and palm based
products
Sales revenue represents revenue earned
from the sales of the Group’s products, net
of trade allowances and duties and taxes
paid.

1.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES    (Cont)
The income statements and statements of
cash flows are translated from PNG Kina
to US Dollars at the average exchange
rates prevailing during the period, which
are considered to approximate the actual
exchange rate at the date of each
transaction.

Revenue is recognised when there has been
a passing of title and risk to the customer,
and:
•  the produce is in a form suitable for
delivery and sale and no further processing
is required;
•   the quantity and quality of the product can
be determined with reasonable accuracy;
• the product has been dispatched to
the customer and is no longer under the
physical control of the Group (or property
in the product has earlier passed to the
customer) and
•   the selling price can be determined with
reasonable accuracy.

The average exchange rate at 31 December
2007 is PGK1.00 = USD 0.3396 (31 December
2006: PGK 1.00 = USD 0.3272).
(ii) Transactions and balances
Transactions denominated in a foreign
currency are converted at the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction. Assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated
to local currency at rates of exchange ruling
at balance date. Gains or losses arising
from exchange fluctuations are brought to
account in the determination of the results
for the period.

(ii) Sale of cattle and beef products
The Group operates an integrated oil palm
and beef operation and sells all beef locally.
Sales of beef are recognised when title and
risk has passed to the customer.

(iii) Group companies
The results and financial position of all
the Group entities that have a functional
currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:
•
assets and liabilities for each
balance sheet presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of the balance
sheet;
•
income and expenses for each
income statement are translated at the
average exchange rate; and
•
all resulting exchange differences
are recognised as a separate component
of equity.

(iii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a timeproportionate basis using the effective
interest method.
(iv) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the
right to receive payment is established.
(n)
Issued capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Where any Group Company purchases the
Company’s equity share capital (treasury
shares), the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from
equity attributable to the Company’s equity
holders until the shares are cancelled,
reissued or disposed of.

(m)
Revenue and other income
Revenue comprises the fair value of
consideration received or receivable for the
sale of the Group’s products in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown net of trade allowances and duties
and taxes paid.

Where such shares are subsequently sold
or reissued, any consideration received,
net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income
tax effects is included in equity attributable
to the Company’s equity holders.

The Group recognises revenue when
the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured, it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity
and specific criteria for each of the Groups
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(t)
Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment
where substantially all the risks and benefits
incidental to the ownership of the asset, but
not the legal ownership are assumed by
the Group, are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised, recording an
asset and liability equal to the present value
of the minimum lease payments, including
any guaranteed residual values.

1.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES    (Cont)
(o)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in
hand, deposits held at call with banks and
other short term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less.
For the purpose of the statements of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents includes
cash on hand and deposits held at call
or short term maturity with banks (three
months or less), net of bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Leased assets are amortised over the
shorter of their estimated useful lives or the
lease term. Lease payments are allocated
between the reduction of the lease liability
and the lease interest expense for the
period.
Lease payments for operating leases, where
substantially all the risks and benefits remain
with the lessor, are charged as expenses in
the periods in which they are incurred.

(p)
Accounts receivable
Trade receivables are recognised at fair
value, less provision for impairment. Trade
receivables are generally due for settlement
within 45 days.

(u)
Defined contribution plan
The Group operates a defined contribution
plan. A defined contribution plan is a
plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into publicly or privately
administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if
the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior
periods. The contributions are recognised
within staff costs when they are due.

A provision for impairment trade receivables
is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. The amount
of the provision is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the effective interest rate. The
amount of the provision is recognised in the
income statement.
(q)
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
of the amount can be made.

v)
Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have
been adjusted to conform with changes in
presentation in the current period.
(w)
Change in accounting policy –
valuation of biological assets/adoption of
IAS 41
In the year ended 31 December 2007, the
Group has adopted IAS 41 Agriculture in
relation to its biological assets comprising oil
palm trees from initial preparation of land
and planting of seedlings through to maturity
and the entire productive life of the trees.
This standard requires all biological assets
and agricultural produce be measured at
fair value. In previous periods, the Group has
valued these assets at the lower of cost or
net realisable value.

(r)
Accounts payable and accruals
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be
paid in the future for the goods and services
received, whether billed by the supplier or
not. The amounts are unsecured and are
usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
(s)
Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s
shareholders is recognised as a liability in the
Group’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s directors.
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1.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES    (Cont)
IAS 41 has been applied retrospectively in accordance with the requirements of IAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, and the comparative information in relation to the 2006
financial year has been restated accordingly. The following adjustments were made at 31 December 2006
						
and 1 January 2006:
						
Consolidated
31-Dec-06
Increase/ 31-Dec-06 31-Dec-05
Increase/
1-Jan-06
(Decrease)

Restated *

(Decrease)

Restated

USD'000

USD'000

USD'000

USD'000

USD'000

USD'000

Property, plant & equipment

97,085

53,270

150,355

79,641

41,389

121,030

Plantation development

56,148

(56,148)

-

43,460

(43,460)

-

-

84,854

84,854

-

44,499

44,499

31,171

24,434

55,605

27,028

12,574

39,602

Net assets

136,576

57,541

194,117

119,327

29,854

149,181

Retained earnings

117,764

56,604

174,368

101,421

30,116

131,537

Other reserves

7,396

(269)

7,127

6,282

(261)

6,021

Minority interest

1,976

1,206

3,182

2,183

-

2,183

Total equity
136,576
						

57,541

194,117

119,327

29,854

149,181

Balance sheet (extract)

Biological assets
Deferred income tax

(w)
Change in accounting policy – valuation of biological assets/adoption of IAS 41 (Continued)
						
Profit
Increase/

2006

(Decrease)

Restated *

USD'000

USD'000

USD'000

(52,658)

(10,145)

(62,803)

-

37,700

37,700

Administrative expenses

(12,965)

(1,954)

(14,919)

Depreciation and amortisation **

(23,632)

12,099

(11,533)

Profit before income tax

29,295

37,700

66,995

Income tax expense

(7,865)

(11,310)

(19,175)

Profit

21,430

26,390

47,820

21,616

25,205

46,821

(186)

1,185

999

21,430

26,390

47,820

Income statement

2006

(extract)
Cost of sales
Net biological asset gain

Profit is attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interest

* The 2006 restated amounts reflect the adjustments arising from the adoption of IAS41 and the correct classification of the
share of profits and equity between the equity holders of the Company and minority interests.					
** Depreciation and amortisation expenses have been reclassified to Cost of sales and Administrative expenses.

36

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(ii) Commodity risk
The Group derives a significant proportion
of it’s revenues from the sale of palm
oil products. The Group uses derivative
financial instruments for the purchase and
sale of Malaysian/Sumatran palm oil to
guarantee a minimum price for the sale
of its own palm oil, for which there is no
forward market, and to close out positions
previously taken out. The Group does not
produce Malaysian/Sumatran palm oil.

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks including market risk (including
currency, commodity and cash flow interest
rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, capital risk
and fair value risk.
The Group’s overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the
financial performance of the Group. Risk
management is carried out under policies
approved by the Board of Directors.

At 31 December 2007, excluding the
effect of any hedging activities, if the
average prices received from the sale of
palm oil products had been 10% higher/
lower with all other variables held constant,
the profit for the period would have been
USD18.7million (31 December 2006:
USD12.3million) higher/lower, mainly as a
result of higher/lower commodity prices.

(a)
Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the US dollar. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
(borrowings) and net investments in foreign
operations.

(iii) Cash flow and interest rate risk
As the Group has no significant interestbearing assets, the Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest
rates.
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from
long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at
variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. It is not the Group’s policy
to hedge cash flow and interest rate risk.

The Group’s revenues and a significant
proportion of the Group’s costs are in US
dollars and therefore the Group’s operations
are exposed to some foreign exchange risk.
It is not the Group’s policy to hedge foreign
currency risk.

At 31 December 2007, if interest rates on
US-dollar denominated borrowings had
been 10 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the profit for
the period would have been USD0.1million
(31 December 2006: USD0.1million)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/
lower interest expense on floating rate
borrowings.

At 31 December 2007, if the Kina had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against
the US dollar with all other variables held
constant, the profit for the period would
have been USD1.4million (31 December
2006: USD0.2 million) higher/lower, mainly
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses
on translation of US dollar denominated
borrowings and trade receivables.

(b)
Credit risk
The Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk and it is not the Group’s policy to
hedge credit risk. The Group has policies in
place to ensure that sales of products and
services are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history and has policies
that limit the amount of credit exposure to
any one customer. No credit limits were
exceeded during the reporting periods and
management does not expect any losses
from non-performance by counterparties.

Profit is more sensitive to movement in Kina/
US dollar exchange rates in the current period
than in 2006 because of the increased
amount of US dollar denominated trade
debtors at that time. Equity would have
been USD0.9million (31 December 2006:
USD0.2million) lower/higher, arising mainly
from exchange gains/losses on translation of
US dollar denominated derivative financial
instruments.
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd)
c)
Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient bank balances to fund its operations and the availability of
funding through committed credit facilities.
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flows.
Forecasted liquidity reserve as of 31 December 2007 is as follows:

Opening balance for the period
Operating proceeds

2008

2009

USD’000

USD’000

131,281

143,610

222,465

227,665

(135,424)

(135,848)

Payments of debts and dividends

(39,394)

(39,394)

Utilisation of net proceeds from share issue

(35,318)

(80,079)

Closing balance for the period

143,610

115,954

Operating cash outflows

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities which will be settled on a net basis into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cashflows.

Less than

Between 1

Between 2

Over

1 year

and 2
years

and 5
years

5 years

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

6,003

3,279

8,490

7,392

Trade and other payables

11,273

-

-

-

Dividends payable

21,479

-

-

-

Borrowings

5,835

4,449

6,699

9,438

Trade and other payables

8,609

-

-

-

Dividends payable

2,407

-

-

-

At 31 December 2007
Borrowings

At 31 December 2006
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd)
c)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The tables below analyse the Group’s derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a gross basis
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contract
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Less than

Between 1

Between 2

Over

1 year

and 2 years

and 5 years

5 years

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

Inflow

76,813

3,780

-

-

Outflow

25,975

-

-

-

Inflow

6,840

2,441

-

-

Outflow

1,135

-

-

-

At 31 December 2007
Forward sale and purchase contracts cash flow hedges

At 31 December 2006
Forward sale and purchase contracts cash flow hedges

(d)
Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including “borrowings”
and “trade and other payables” as shown in the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents and bank
overdrafts. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the balance sheet plus net debt.
The gearing ratios at each balance date were as follows:
2,007

2,006

USD’000

USD’000

30,962

28,073

Less: cash and cash equivalents

(131,281)

6,262

Net debt

(100,319)

34,335

Total equity

370,474

194,117

Total capital

270,155

228,452

(37%)

15%

Total borrowings

Gearing ratio

The higher gearing ratio in 2006 resulted primarily from additional debt to fund the operations of the Solomon
Islands subsidiary.
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(e)
Fair value estimation
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined by the Group based on dealer quotes and market
conditions existing at each balance sheet date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes are used for long-term
debt.
The fair value contract prices by settlement date used by the Group in respect of its hedges of crude palm oil
(CPO) and refined bleached deodorised olein (RBDOL) were as follows:
Between
1 to 3 months
USD/tonne

Between
4 to 6 months
USD/tonne

Between
7 to 12 months
USD/tonne

Over
12 months
USD/tonne

1,020

1,023

993

1,000

930

930

930

-

628

600

600

600

At 31 December 2007
CPO
RBDOL
At 31 December 2006
CPO

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their
fair values due to the short-term nature of trade receivables and payables.
3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards require
management to make estimates and assumptions concerning the future that affect the amounts reported in
the financial information and accompanying notes. Managements’ estimates and judgments are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates, by definition,
rarely equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are outlined below:
(a)
Recoverability of non-current assets
As set out in note 1 (h) certain assumptions are required to be made in order to assess the recoverability of noncurrent assets. Key assumptions include the future price of crude palm oil, future cash flows and an estimated
discount rate. A 10% decrease to the long-term crude palm oil price used of USD525/tonne or an increase of
10% in the discount rate will not have an adverse impact on the carrying value of non-current assets. In addition,
cash flows are projected over a number of years and based on estimated production. Estimates of production
in themselves are dependent on various assumptions, in addition to those described above. Changes in these
estimates could materially impact on estimated production, and could therefore affect estimates of future cash
flows used in the assessment of recoverable amount.
(b)
Fair value of biological assets
The nature of the Group’s biological assets and the basis of determination of their fair value is explained under Note
1 (d). Key assumptions include the future price of crude palm oil, future cash flows and an estimated discount
rate. A 10% increase or decrease to the long-term crude palm oil price used of USD525/tonne would result in
an increase/decrease to the fair value of biological assets by USD18.9million as at 31 December 2007. A 10%
increase in the discount rate will result in a decrease to the fair value of biological assets by USD27.8million. In
addition, cash flows are projected over a number of years and based on estimated production. Estimates of
production in themselves are dependent on various assumptions, in addition to those described above. Changes
in these estimates could materially impact on estimated production, and could therefore affect estimates of
future cash flows used in the assessment of fair value.
As noted above, judgements are made in designing and applying the Group’s accounting policies, including the
above policies. Other than these items and the disclosures made elsewhere in these financial statements, there
are no other items of critical judgment that warrant separate disclosure.
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4. REVENUE

Holding Company

Consolidated
2007

2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

233,964

134,279

219,449

129,872

(9,010)

(515)

(9,010)

(515)

224,954

133,764

210,439

129,357

2,355

590

2,353

528

51

167

542

481

2,406

757

2,895

1,009

Revenue
Sales revenue
Realisation of hedging instruments

Other income
Foreign exchange gain
Other income

5. OPERATING PROFIT

Holding Company

Consolidated
2007

2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

17,977

11,662

16,014

10,645

Cost of sales

9,260

8,232

8,033

7,427

Administration expenses

5,390

3,301

4,895

3,300

14,650

11,533

12,928

10,727

119

58

119

48

76

84

76

81

867

-

867

-

(171)

20

(171)

20

Operating profit has been determined after
charging:

Personnel costs
Depreciation is included in:

Auditors remuneration
- Audit services
- Taxation services
- Other assurance services
(Gain)/loss on disposal of non current assets
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6. INCOME TAX

Consolidated

Holding Company

2007

2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

Current tax

21,256

3,520

21,256

3,301

Deferred tax

13,474

16,056

14,294

13,823

(119)

(401)

(119)

(401)

34,611

19,175

35,431

16,723

121,584

66,995

119,829

58,190

36,475

20,099

35,949

17,457

(1,745)

(523)

(399)

(333)

(119)

(401)

(119)

(401)

34,611

19,175

35,431

16,723

Balance brought forward

(55,605)

(39,602)

(53,253)

(39,526)

Income statement charge/(credit)

(13,474)

(16,056)

(14,294)

(13,823)

(5,386)

(1,359)

(4,436)

(1,317)

(a) Income Tax Expense

Under/(over) provision in prior years
The income tax expense has been calculated as
follows:
Profit for the year
Income tax at 30%
Tax effect of permanent differences:
Non-deductible expenses
Under/(over) provision in prior years
Income tax expense
(b) Deferred Income Tax Liabilities

Exchange differences
Tax charged/(credited) to equity

7,067

1,412

6,230

1,412

(67,398)

(55,605)

(65,753)

(53,253)

80

59

80

59

27,612

5,322

27,612

5,322

435

405

435

405

(9,665)

(9,734)

(9,665)

(9,734)

Stock valuation differentials

(420)

(1,910)

(420)

(1,910)

Prepayments

(254)

(217)

(254)

(217)

Balance carried forward
This balance comprises the tax effect of:
Accruals
Hedge liability
Provisions
Consumables

Unrealised foreign exchange gains

57

(220)

57

(220)

Biological assets

(134,143)

(84,854)

(127,230)

(75,745)

Excess tax depreciation

(108,363)

(94,202)

(109,790)

(95,470)

(224,661)

(185,351)

(219,175)

(177,510)

(67,398)

(55,605)

65,753

(53,253)

Tax effect at 30%
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Consolidated
As at 31 December 2007
Opening net book amount
Additions		
Disposals
Transfers
Exchange differences
Depreciation		
Closing net book amount

Plantation
Development
USD’000

Land and
Buildings
USD’000

Plant and
Equipment
USD’000

Capital
WIP
USD’000

USD’000

53,271
9,375
4,331
(3,239)
63,738

46,125
(165)
8,337
3,802
(1,930)
56,169

37,242
168
(457)
11,020
3,133
(9,481)
41,625

13,717
24,952
(19,357)
1,333
20,645

150,355
34,495
(622)
12,599
(14,650)
182,177

At cost
Accumulated depreciation

86,530
(22,792)
63,738

75,505
(19,336)
56,169

100,716
(59,091)
41,625

20,645
20,645

283,396
(101,219)
182,177

41,389
13,062
1,338
(2,518)
53,271

38,514
8,081
1,042
(1,512)
46,125

28,405
2,847
(20)
12,857
656
(7,503)
37,242

12,722
21,154
(20,938)
779
13,717

121,030
37,063
(20)
3,815
(11,533)
150,355

72,324
(19,053)
53,271

63,531
(17,406)
46,125

86,852
(49,610)
37,242

13,717
13,717

236,424
(86,069)
150,355

43,786
7,453
3,559
(2,423)
52,375

42,554
(53)
4,941
3,366
(1,723)
49,085

31,831
168
(52)
8,896
2,403
(8,782)
34,464

9,638
22,003
(13,837)
1,166
18,970

127,809
29,624
(105)
10,494
(12,928)
154,894

73,663
(21,288)
52,375

68,075
(18,990)
49,085

92,646
(58,182)
34,464

18,970
18,970

253,354
(98,460)
154,894

35,992
9,146
1,001
(2,353)
43,786

35,491
8,592
986
(2,515)
42,554

25,198
(3,696)
15,487
701
(5,859)
31,831

109,403
26,317
(3,696)
6,512
(10,727)
127,809

62,651
(18,865)
43,786

59,821
(17,267)
42,554

81,231
(49,400)
31,831

12,722
17,171
(24,079)
3,824
9,638
9,638
9,638

As at 31 December 2006
Opening net book amount
Additions		
Disposals
Transfers
Exchange differences
Depreciation
Closing net book amount
At cost			
Accumulated depreciation
Company		
As at 31 December 2007
Opening net book amount
Additions		
Disposals		
Transfers		
Exchange differences
Depreciation		
Closing net book amount
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
As at 31 December 2006
Opening net book amount
Additions		
Disposals
Transfers		
Exchange differences
Depreciation		
Closing net book amount
At cost			
Accumulated depreciation

Refer to note 14 for information on the non current assets pledged as security by the Group.
Non current assets pledged as security
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8. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
Holding Company

Consolidated
2007

2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

138

153

138

153

84,854

44,499

75,745

44,018

1,010

737

1,010

737

39,702

37,700

42,434

29,236

8,577

1,918

8,041

1,754

134,143

84,854

127,230

75,745

Gain arising from movement in fair value

104,188

77,646

101,355

67,813

Fair value of FFB harvested

(64,486)

(39,946)

(58,921)

(38,577)

39,702

37,700

42,434

29,236

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

3,515

1,987

12,123

11,080

Current
Livestock
Non-Current
Oil Palms
Beginning of the year
Additions to planted areas and costs to maturity
Net biological gain
Exchange differences
End of the year
Net biological gain comprise:

9. INVESTMENTS
Investments - Non current
Consolidated
Investment in joint venture (note 22)

Holding Company
The holding Company’s investment in subsidiaries and associate companies:
Shares at cost

Subsidiaries
The Group has the following subsidiaries as at 31 December 2007:

Name of the subsidiary

Percentage
Shareholding

Guadalcanal Plains Palm Oil Limited

80

Country of
Incorporation

Reporting
Date

Solomon Islands

31 December

Dami Australia Pty Limited

100

Australia

31 December

New Britain Nominees Limited

100

PNG

31 December

New Britain Plantation Services Pte Limited

100

Singapore

31 December
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10.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Holding Company
2007
2006

2007

Consolidated
2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

17,511

806

14,477

424

118,089

-

118,089

-

135,600

806

132,566

424

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, the following balances
comprise cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period:
Cash and bank balances
17,511
806

14,477

424

Cash and bank balances
Short term deposits

Short term deposits
Bank overdraft (note 14)

118,089

-

118,089

-

(4,319)

(7,068)

(4,319)

(6,883)

131,281

(6,262)

128,247

(6,459)

11.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Holding Company

Consolidated
2007

2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

48,370

24,123

44,199

23,035

(435)

(405)

(435)

(405)

47,935

23,718

43,764

22,630

Other receivables

3,351

3,524

3,234

3,389

Prepayments

4,023

694

3,957

686

55,309

27,936

50,955

26,705

Trade receivables
Provision for impairment

As at 31 December 2007, trade receivable of USD 0.4 million (2006: USD 0.4 million) relating to sundry debtors and
smallholders, were considered impaired and were provided by management. The ageing of these receivables
is as follows:
3 to 6 months
Over 6 months

435

405

435

405

435

405

435

405

405

135

Movement on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
Opening balance
Provision for receivables impaired
Exchange differences
Unused amount reversed

405

135

-

405

-

405

30

-

30

-

-

(135)

-

(135)

435

405

435

405

The creating and releasing of provision for impaired receivables is included in administration costs in the income statement.
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional
cash.
The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.
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12. INVENTORIES
Consolidated

Holding Company

2007

2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

Palm oil products

7,096

5,225

6,476

4,944

Nursery and seed stocks

1,394

703

584

111

Consumables and spare parts

9,686

10,809

9,342

10,656

18,176

16,737

16,402

15,711

13. OWNG TO/FROM GROUP COMPANIES
Holding Company

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

17,613

11,212

Dami Australia Pty Limited

258

(560)

New Britain Nominees Limited

225

94

New Britain Plantation Services
Pte Limited

(184)

-

17,912

10,746

Guadalcanal Plains Palm Oil
Limited

All balances owing to or from subsidiar y companies have been eliminated on consolidation
4. BORROWINGS

Consolidated

Holding Company

2007

2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

14,363

11,422

14,363

11,422

Bank overdraft

4,319

7,068

4,319

6,883

Bank borrowings

1,007

974

1,007

974

5,326

8,042

5,326

7,857

19,689

19,464

19,689

19,279

Non-Current
Secured
Bank borrowings
Current
Secured

Total borrowings

The Company received approval for a loan of USD10.1million from the ANZ Banking Group in 2005, out of which
USD10.0 million has been drawn to 31 December 2007 to fund the Solomon Islands Project undertaken through its
subsidiary, Guadalcanal Plains Palm Oil Limited. The loan is payable by December 2016 but no principal repayments
are due until 2010. Interest is charged at 7.33 %, calculated at SIBOR plus a margin of 2.00 % (2006: 7.36 %).
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14.

BORROWINGS (continued)

The Company received approval for a loan of USD5 million (K15.0 million) from the ANZ Banking Group in 2006
and the full amount has been drawn to 31 December 2007 to assist with the funding of capital expenditure for the
construction and operation of a power plant. The loan is payable four years from the date of the first draw down
but no principal repayments are due until April 2008. Interest is charged at 7.00 % calculated at ANZ’s Indicator
Lending Rate minus a margin of 2.95 % (2006: 7.00 %).
The following securities are provided against facilities offered by ANZ Banking Group, including the above bank
overdraft and bank borrowings:
•
Registered equitable mortgage over the assets and undertakings of the Company;
•
Registered mortgage leasehold over all state leases comprising all available land and buildings owned
by the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries; and
•
Cross Guarantee between the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries.
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates as at the
balance sheet dates are as follows:
Consolidated

Holding Company

2007

2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

6 months or less

2,625

4,504

2,625

4,319

6-12 months

4,057

919

4,057

919

1-5 years

8,914

8,747

8,914

8,747

Over 5 years

4,093

5,294

4,093

5,294

19,689

19,464

19,689

19,279

The fair value of borrowings equals their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not considered
significant.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:
Consolidated

United States Dollar
Papua New Guinea Kina

Holding Company

2007

2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

13,019

15,930

13,019

15,930

6,670

3,349

6,670

3,349

-

185

-

-

19,689

19,464

19,689

19,279

Solomon Islands Dollar
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15. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Consolidated

Holding Company
2007
2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

24,786

4,551

24,786

4,551

2,220

771

2,200

771

Current Liabilities
- Forward contracts
Non Current Liabilities
- Forward Contracts

The Group has entered into a number of hedge contracts in relation to future sales of palm oil. The purpose of
these transactions is to protect the level of income in future years. It is not Group policy to engage in speculative
hedging activities.
The outstanding hedge contracts at balance date were as follows:
Tonnes as at 31 December

Average price USD/tonne
as at 31 December

2007

2006

2007

2006

CPO (sell)

96,000

55,500

710

502

CPO (buy)

25,750

6,000

900

568

RDBOL (sell)

15,000

-

829

-

RDBOL (buy)

3,000

-

933

-

Sell contracts represent a fixed and guaranteed amount of revenue to the Group whilst the buy contracts represent
the close out of sell positions previously taken, given there is no forward market for the Group’s own palm oil. The
minimum total revenue generated from these programs at 31 December 2007 will be USD80.6 million.
At 31 December 2007, the estimated fair value of the total hedge program, was USD27.0 million out-of-the-money
(31 December 2006: USD5.3million out-of-the-money).
At the fair value contract price plus 10 % , the estimated fair value of the total hedge program at 31 December
2007 would be approximately USD35.1 million out-of-the money. Conversely at the fair value contract price less
10 % the estimated fair value would be USD18.8 million out-of-the-money. The fair value contract price for forward
sale and purchase contracts is estimated based on quotes from the market makers of these instruments and
represents the estimated amounts that the Group would expect to receive or pay to terminate the agreements at
the reporting date.
As all hedge transactions are deemed highly effective, all gains and losses relating to their remeasurement to
fair value are recognised in the hedge reserve within equity and subsequently brought to account in the income
statement in the same period as the physical sales transaction occurs to which the hedges relate.
The estimated net amount of gains/(losses) contained in the hedge reserve which are expected to be reclassified
to earnings within the next 12 months were as follows:
Consolidated

Holding Company

2007

2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

Forward contracts

(24,786)

(4,551)

(24,786)

(4,551)

Deferred taxation

7,436

1,365

7,436

1,365

(17,350)

(3,186)

(17,350)

(3,186)
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15. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The estimated net amount of gains/(losses) contained in the hedge reserve which are expected to be reclassified
to earnings beyond 12 months were as follows:
Consolidated
Holding Company
2007
2006
2007
2006
USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

Forward contracts

(2,220)

(771)

(2,220)

(771)

Deferred taxation

666

231

666

231

(1,554)

(540)

(1,554)

(540)

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Consolidated
2007
2006

Holding Company
2007
2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

Trade payables

4,994

3,264

4,017

3,535

Accruals

6,279

5,345

6,228

3,805

11,273

8,609

10,245

7,340

21,479

2,407

21,479

2,407

Dividends payable
17. ISSUED CAPITAL

Consolidated
2007
2006

Holding Company
2007
2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

9,440

9,440

9,615

9,615

115,397

-

115,397

-

42

-

-

-

124,879

9,440

125,012

9,615

Number of shares
‘000
‘000

‘000

(a) Issued and paid up capital
Ordinary shares
Opening balance
Issued during the year
Shares issued for land rights
Closing balance

(b) Issued and paid up capital
Ordinary shares
Issued during the year
Treasury shares

‘000
120,000

120,000

120,000

120,000

25,000

-

25,000

-

(201)

(374)

-

-

144,799

119,626

145,000

120,000

The Company’s securities consist of ordinary shares which have equal participation and voting rights. Treasury shares
are held by New Britain Nominees Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. These shares confer no voting
rights, no rights to participation in dividends, are not transferable and are redeemable at the option of the Company.
The purpose of these shares is to provide an opportunity for employees, smallholders and landowners to acquire shares
in the Company so that they will have a direct interest and benefit in the future growth and prosperity of the Company.
At 31 December 2007, New Britain Nominees Limited held 200,799 shares in the Company (December 2006: 374,185).
The acquisition of these shares has been funded by an interest free loan to New Britain Nominees Limited by the
Company.
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18. OTHER RESERVES

Consolidated
2007
2006

Holding Company
2007
2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

Balance brought forward

10,877

6,090

10,852

6,231

Currency translation differences arising during the year

18,636

4,787

17,601

4,621

Balance carried forward

29,513

10,877

28,453

10,852

(3,750)

(69)

(3,750)

(69)

(29,203)

(5,544)

(29,203)

(5,544)

8,761

1,567

8,761

1,567

Foreign currency translation reserve

Hedge reserve
Balance brought forward
Fair value gains in the year
Deferred tax on fair value gains
Transfers to sales

9,010

515

9,010

515

Deferred tax on transfers to sales

(2,703)

(154)

(2,703)

(154)

Exchange differences

(1,049)

(65)

(1,049)

(65)

Movement in the year

(15,184)

(3,681)

(15,184)

(3,681)

Balance carried forward

(18,934)

(3,750)

(18,934)

(3,750)

10,579

7,127

9,519

7,102

Total reserves

Foreign currency translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.
Hedge reserve – cash flow hedges
The hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow
hedging instruments where the hedged transactions have not yet occurred.
19. DIVIDENDS

Holding Company
2007
2006

Dividends declared and paid
Dividends declared not paid at year end

Number of shares (‘000) (note 17)
Dividend per share

USD’000

USD’000

8,028

1,583

21,479

2,407

29,507

3,990

144,799

119,626

0.20

0.03

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties comprise New Britain Palm Oil Limited’s shareholders, associated companies, other entities in
which the shareholders or the Group have the ability to control or exercise significant influence over their financial
and operating decisions and key management personnel. The Group’s immediate holding Company is Kulim
(Malaysia) Berhad, a Company incorporated in Malaysia. The ultimate holding Company is Johor Corporation
(Malaysia). During the year, the Group entered into the following significant transactions with related parties on
normal commercial terms and conditions agreed between the related parties:
Payments/commissions to Kulim (Malaysia) Berhad for various agricultural consultancy services amounted to
USD340,330 (31 December 2006: USD41,235).
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20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
On 20 November 2007 the Group appointed Mr Alan Chaytor to the Board as an Executive Director. He is also a
director of Pacific Rim Plantation Services Pte Ltd (“Pac Rim”) with whom the Group entered into a memorandum
of agreement on 21 February 2007 and appointed Pac Rim as its exclusive agent until 2012 to provide sales
and marketing for CPO and PKO and refined oil products into Europe and to any clients introduced by Pac
Rim.
During the period 21 February 2007 to 19 November 2007 (prior to appointment of Mr Chaytor to the Board) the
Group paid sales commissions to Pac Rim of USD2,350,927. From 20 November 2007 to 31 December 2007,
the Group paid sales commissions to Pac Rim of USD552,087 on the same commercial terms as existed prior
to Mr Chaytor being appointed to the Board.
The total payments made to the defined contribution plans on behalf employees amounted to USD862,969
(31 December 2006: USD759,889).
Key management personnel compensation

Wages and salaries

Consolidated
2007
2006

Holding Company
2007
2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

1,216

746

1,216

746

Other short-term benefits

494

492

494

492

1,710

1,238

1,710

1,238

Other short term benefits comprise travel, medical and educational allowances.
Share-based payment
In June 2007, the Company paid a one-off discretionary bonus payment to executive employees including
key management personnel, through facilitating the transfer of 600,000 ordinary shares from the Group’s immediate holding Company, Kulim (Malaysia) Berhad, to these employees. This transaction did not require the
Company to purchase or acquire any of its ordinary shares; however the Company did make a cash payment
to the holding Company to reimburse it for the transfer of the 600,000 shares it held to management.
The payment made to the holding Company was equal to the fair value of the shares transferred (USD1.6million)
and is recognised during the period as part of staff costs in the income statement and cash payment to supplies and employees in the statement of cash flows.
21. COMMITMENTS
(a)

Capital commitments

The Group has commitments for future capital expenditure amounting to USD8.4 million at 31 December
2007 (31 December 2006: USD8.5 million).
(b)

Operating lease commitments

Consolidated
2007

2006

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

USD’000

234

218

234

218

1,170

975

1,170

975

12,951

11,934

12,951

11,934

14,355

13,127

14,355

13,127

Not later than one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Later than five years

Holding Company

Future minimum lease payments relate to mini-estate leases of land, on a renewable basis, for terms of 20 or 40 years and
State owned leases, on a renewable basis, for terms of 99 years.
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22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURE ENTITY
The Group has a 50 %. interest in PT Damitama mas Sejahtera, a Company established in Indonesia to produce
seeds for sale to third parties through its 100 %. owned subsidiary Dami Australia Pty Limited. The Group has
contributed seed material as its contribution to the joint venture, and has no further financial commitments. All
other development costs have been met by the other joint venture participant. The joint venture commenced
commercial seed production in 2003. The Group’s share of the operating result of the joint venture has been
recognised in the income statement using the equity method of accounting and its share of movement in
reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment.
The Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture is represented by:
Consolidated

Revenues
Other income
Expenses

Current assets
Non current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Non current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

3,899

2,585

357

77

(1,065)

(2,328)

3,191

334

3,652

1,577

796

839

4,448

2,416

(859)

(362)

(74)

(67)

(933)

(429)

3,515

1,987

23. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Consolidated
2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders used in basic
and diluted EPS

86,940

46,821

Net (gain)/loss arising from changes in fair value of biological
assets attributable to ordinary shareholders, net of tax (*)

(28,173)

(25,204)

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders before changes in fair value of biological asset

58,767

21,617

144,799

119,626

Basic EPS (USD/share)

0.600

0.391

Basic EPS before changes in fair value of biological assets
(USD/share)

0.406

0.181

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (‘000) used in
basic and diluted EPS

52

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
Consolidated
2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

(39,702)

(37,700)

11,911

11,310

(27,791)

(26,390)

(28,173)

(25,205)

382

(1,185)

(27,791)

(26,390)

The net (gain)/loss arising from changes in fair value of biological assets
attributable to ordinary shareholders, net of tax is reconciled to the
income statement as follows:
Net (gain)/loss arising from changes in fair value of biological assets
Income tax expense/(credit)
Attributable to:
Ordinary shareholders
Minority interest

24. SEGMENT INFORMATION
a) Primary reporting format- business segments
The Group’s primary business segment is the growing, harvesting and processing of palm oil. Other business
activities comprising mainly sales of seeds and cattle operations are not significant and separate disclosure of
segment information is not considered beneficial.
b) Secondary reporting format- business segments
The Group primarily operates in Papua New Guinea, but also has operations in the Solomon Islands, Australia,
Indonesia and Singapore. Geographical segment information is shown below:
Consolidated
2007

2006

USD’000

USD’000

209,130

130,715

15,824

3,049

224,954

133,764

482,231

249,228

40,271

33,650

Indonesia

3,515

1,987

Australia

3,041

659

529,058

285,524

30,633

26,552

4,502

11,918

35,135

38,470

Sales revenue
Papua New Guinea
Solomon Islands
Total assets
Papua New Guinea
Solomon Islands

Acquisitions of segment assets
Papua New Guinea
Solomon Islands
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25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At 31 December 2007, the Group had contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims arising in the ordinary
course of business pertaining to land disputes, employee issues and GST disputes (refer below). The Group
has disclaimed liability is all cases and is vigorously defending these actions. It is not practical to estimate the
potential effect of these claims but legal advice indicates that any liability that may arise in the unlikely event
these claims are successful will not be significant.
GST dispute
In 2005 a GST assessment was levied on the Company for the period from 1 July 1999 to 31 December 2004
resulting in alleged GST payable of USD3.0 million. The assessment arose from a GST audit carried out by the
Internal Revenue Commission (IRC), and concerned the following matters:
•
the alleged incorrect claiming of input tax credits in respect of the provision of certain employee
benefits; and
•
the alleged inaccurate calculation of taxable supplies resulting an underpayment of GST by the
Company.
On 10 May 2006 the Company lodged an objection against the GST assessment claiming that the alleged
GST was incorrect. On 14 September 2006, the IRC issued an amended assessment allowing input credits of
USD0.6 million in respect of the GST claimed on certain employee benefits, thus reducing the alleged liability
to USD2.4 million. The IRC has not allowed the objection in relation to the alleged underpayment of GST on
supplies by the Company and the matter has since been referred to the PNG Review Tribunal. The Chairman
of the Review Tribunal directed the IRC on 28 February 2007 to arrange a meeting with NBPOL to allow a
dialogue to be established in which it may be possible to resolve the dispute without the need for a further
hearing before the Review Tribunal. At the date of this report, the IRC have not complied with the directions
of the Review Tribunal and have refused to meet with the Company to resolve the issue, despite numerous
attempts by the Company.
Both the directors and their external tax and legal advisors believe the Company’s disputed GST returns were
correct as lodged and no further GST is payable by the Company.
26. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
No events occurred after the balance date that would require an adjustment to or a disclosure in the financial
statements.
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